Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs

1988

Bake v. Bake: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

As a result of a trial held January 19, and 21, 1988, before the Honorable Dennis L. Draney, Seventh District Court Judge, Neal F. Bake, Appellant, has requested this Court to review the following issues:

- 1. The trial court failed to make any threshold determination of substantial change in circumstances since entry of the Decree of Divorce on the issue of custody, before modifying that decree which is a misapplication of the law.
- 2. The order modifying the parties' Decree of Divorce which changed custody of the parties' two minor children from

- Neal F. Bake to Vickey L. Bake, was an abuse of discretion by the trial judge.
- 3. The evidence offered at trial regarding custody does not support the trial court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order that it is in the best interests of the children that custody be changed from Neal Bake to Vickey Bake.
- 4. The trial judge failed to properly apply the law to the facts in determining the best interests of the children in modifying the custody award herein.
- 5. The trial court improperly limited the presentation of Defendant's case by proceeding to trial without allowing the custody evaluation which had been ordered to be performed; by interviewing the children in chambers without making a record of that interview and making findings thereon; and by prohibiting any testimony at trial concerning Vickey Bake's caretaking of the parties' nephew Steven Springer.
- 6. The trial court failed to make sufficient findings on which to base its Order modifying custody from Neal Bake to Vickey Bake.
- 7. The trial court's award of child support to Vickey Bake was an abuse of discretion on the facts as presented.

STATUTES REQUIRING INTERPRETATION

The following statutes require interpretation:

1. Section 30-35-5, Utah Code Annotated (1984, as amended), copy attached.

- 2. Section 30-3-10, Utah Code Annotated (1984, amended), copy attached.
- 3. Section 78-45-7, Utah Code Annotated (1984, as amended), copy attached.

STATEMENT ON THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The parties herein were divorced by order of the Seventh Judicial District Court for Duchesne County, State of Utah, on August 19, 1985, by order of the Honorable Richard C. Davidson. The Decree of Divorce awarded the Appellant Neal F. Bake custody of the parties' two minor children, Kyle Bake and Nathan Bake, who were ages 10 and 8 at the time of the divorce. (Decree of Divorce, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the Stipulation are attached hereto as Exhibit A).

The Decree of Divorce did not address the custody of the parties' foster child and nephew, Steven Springer, age 12 at the time of the divorce, who resided with Vickey Bake after the divorce. Because the Respondent denied Neal Bake access and visitation with his nephew Steven, and took the child out-of-state for an extended period without informing him, he filed a Verified Petition for Modification of the Divorce Decree in January 1987, seeking custody of Steven Springer. (Record, 58-62, hereafter "R.58-62"). The Respondent filed a Counterpetition for Modification of the Decree of Divorce requesting custody of the parties' two minor children.

On May 18, 1987, a hearing was held before Domestic Relations Commission Howard Maetani on the petition of Neal F.

Bake for custody of Steven Springer. The Commissioner acknowledged that joint guardianship of the boy had been previously granted by the Juvenile Court, and granted visitation to Appellant Neal Bake and ordered that Vickey Bake would continue to have physical custody of the child. The Court further ordered the parties to have a home study done by an independant child custody evaluator to determine what would be in the best interests of the parties' two natural children as regards a change of custody. (Ex. B hereto, Recommendation and Order 5-18-87.)

On November 5, 1987, attorney for Respondent requested a hearing on the Counterpetition for Modification concerning the parties' two natural children. No custody evaluation had been performed. Counsel for Neal Bake filed an objection to Plaintiff's request for hearing on or about January 13, 1988, which was denied by the Court. (R.115-118) A trial was held January 19, and 21, 1988, on the Counterpetition for Modification of the Decree of Divorce concerning custody of the parties' two natural children.

On January 26, 1988, Judge Dennis L. Draney issued a ruling changing custody of the two minor children from Neal Bake to Respondent. (Ruling attached hereto as Exhibit C.) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and an Order modifying the Decree of Divorce were signed by the Court on February 18, 1988. (Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order of Modification are attached hereto as Exhibit D.)

On February 8, 1988, Defendant filed a Motion to have the Court Reopen Judgment and Direct Entry of a New Judgment and for a Stay of Proceedings to enforce judgment. (R. 126-129, copy attached as Exhibit E.) This Motion was denied without hearing by Judge Draney on February 26, 1988. (R. 147).

The minor children Nathan and Kyle Bake were in the care and custody of Neal Bake from early summer of 1985 until the Court ordered a change of custody at the end of February, 1988. At the time of the modification trial the children were ages 11 and 13.

Judge Dennis L. Draney ordered a custody modification based on the following Findings of Fact:

- 3. The Plaintiff lives in a doublewide mobile home with her husband, his daughter Rachel, age 5 and Plaintiff's nephew, Steven, age 14. The home is located in the business district of Roosevelt, Utah, on the same lot, somewhat removed from a building containing a cafe and a lounge. The home is adequate in size and upkeep for it's present occupants and for the boys which are the subject of this action.
- 4. The Defendant lives in Sandy, Utah, with his parents in a residential area of the City. The home is adequate in size and upkeep for its present occupants including the boys.
- 5. Plaintiff is employed as a waitress at the lounge near her home, and works from 8:00 p.m. to 1:00 a.m.. While she is working, Steven cares for Rachel, and there was no evidence that the arrangement has not worked satisfactorily. Plaintiff would be with the boys virtually every day.
- 6. Defendant works as a long haul truck driver, and is away from home the majority of the time. While he is away his mother cares for the boys.
- 7. Both of the parties have a deep concern for the boys, and have the ability to care for their needs.
- 8. The boys have expressed a strong desire to live with the Plaintiff, stating that they want to be with her and with

their cousin Steven, and that they enjoy school more in Roosevelt, and that their friends are in Roosevelt.

- 9. A very favorable picture of Defendant's home and care for the boys is presented by the testimony of the Defendant and his mother. However, the validity of their testimony is adversely affected by significant discrepancy in the evidence presented by them.
- 10. It was the uncontroverted testimony of the Plaintiff that the Defendant recently said to her "You better get your boys back." (R. pp. 148-150).

On the issue of child support the Court found that Vickey Bake earned \$1,217.00 per month, and supported her nephew Steven. The Court found that Neal Bake earned \$1,109.24 per month. (R. p. 148-150). On these facts the Court ordered Mr. Bake to pay child support in the sum of \$115.00 per month, per child.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Overview.

After thirteen years of marriage the parties to this action were divorced on August 19, 1985. The Appellant Neal F. Bake was awarded custody of the parties' two minor children, Kyle Kirk Bake (born, 12-17-86) and Nathan Frank Bake (born 10-10-74). Plaintiff Vickey Bake was awarded liberal visitation including every weekend, the entire summer and alternating holidays. The Decree provided that "based on the parties' income and their agreement Plaintiff should have no obligation to pay child support" and both parties waived any claim to alimony. (R. 43-45; Exh. A.)

Neal F. Bake was awarded the care, custody and control of the minor children with the provision that important decisions concerning the children, such as medical and schooling, would be discussed between the parties. (Exhibit A, Decree of Divorce, para. 2). In its findings, the Court found that Mr. Bake was a fit and proper person to be awarded the care, custody and control of the minor children and that the children had expressed a desire to live with him. No findings were made concerning Mrs. Bake. The Court also found:

"The parties have agreed that since the award of custody is based on the desires of the children that in the event the boys change their mind and express their desire to return to live with their mother that custody would be changed awarding custody to the Plaintiff without a need to show a change of circumstances".

(Exhibit A, Findings of Fact, para. 4.)

B. Facts Relating to Respondent Vickey Bake.

After her separation from Neal Bake in March, 1985,
Respondent moved in with another man, Duane Adderly, whom she
married ten days after her divorce was final in August.

(Transcript, hereinafter "tr.", 11.) The Adderlys now live in a
doublewide trailer in Roosevelt, Utah, located about 100 feet
behind the lounge where they are both employed. (tr. 11-13.)

Immediately after her divorce in August, 1985, the Respondent
lived in a camping trailer with Mr. Adderly for about a month.

(tr. 32.) After that, Respondent and Mr. Adderly moved into his
grandfather's mobile home in Cedarview where they lived for about

one year. (tr. 31.) In July of 1986, the Respondent and Mr. Adderly moved to Colorado where they stayed about four months. (tr. 26.) After that, the Respondent and Mr. Adderly rented a home in Roosevelt where they lived for approximately six months. (tr. 29-30). Since July, 1987, the Adderlys have lived in their present trailer. (tr. 29.)

During these five moves in a span of two years, the Adderlys household consisted of Mr. Adderly's daughter, Rachel, age 5, and Steven Springer, the nephew of these parties, who was age 14. (tr. 11.)

Vickey Bake works as a waitress and occasional bartender at the "Id Lounge" in Roosevelt, Utah. (tr. 12.) Her husband is the manager and bartender at the same bar which is located about 100 feet from the Respondent's trailer. (tr. 13.) The Respondent's hours are from 8:00 p.m. until 1:00 a.m. Tuesday through Saturday and she has also worked since the divorce at a music store and at Pizza Hut. (tr. 13, 25-26.) The Respondent's husband, Duane Adderly, works from 4:00 p.m. until 1:00 a.m. at the "Id Lounge". (tr. 33.)

Respondent testified that there have been fights both inside and outside of the bar which have required police intervention. (tr. 24, 25.)

Respondent testified that it was Steven, age 14, who tended the Adderly's daughter, Rachel, age 5, while the Adderlys were at work. (tr. 13.)

Respondent testified that she earned \$1,217.00 per month which includes a monthly stipend of \$217.00 from the State of Utah for the support of her nephew Steven. (R. 86-88) The Respondent also receives food stamps. (tr. 29.)

During visitation the Respondent has had the children working washing dishes in the restaurant, now closed, which was part of the "Id Lounge". (tr. 18.)

The Respondent testified that the doublewide trailer had three bedrooms, one for Steven Springer, one for herself and Mr. Adderly, and one for their daughter Rachel and that if the children came to reside with her they would share Steven's room. (tr. 32.) Respondent testified that it was her practice to rise in the morning about 9:00 or 10:00 and that Steven typically made his own breakfast and went to school on his own without supervision. (tr. 33, 34.)

Respondent testified that her husband Mr. Adderly drank beer on a daily basis and had undergone court ordered alcoholism treatment. (tr. 37, 38.) She further testified that he regularly drank whiskey while he was working. (tr. 37, 38.)

During visitation with the Respondent, Kyle had an asthma attack and was hospitalized in Roosevelt. When he was returned to Mr. Bake's custody the Respondent did not inform him of this episode which he only learned of by accident. (tr. 106.)

Vickey Bake was aware the boys were in counseling and objected to it, but never contacted the therapist, never

discussed it with Mr. Bake, and denies the boys had any adjustment problems. (tr. 43, 44.)

When Kyle was hospitalized for asthma during visitation, Vickey Bake did not inform Mr. Bake when returning the child concerning the incident or any follow-up care. (tr. 106.)

C. Facts Relating to Vickey Bake's Care of Steven Springer.

During most of the parties' marriage, they were the joint guardians of a nephew, Steven Springer. (tr. 11.) At the time of the parties' divorce, the Court did not consider the custody issue of Steven Springer and no order was made in his regard. Steven had lived with the family since he was age 5 and Neal Bake had acted as a parent towards him. (tr. 11, 23.) After the divorce, Mr. Bake was prevented from seeing Steven or having access to him. Additionally, the Respondent would not keep Mr. Bake informed of her whereabouts, she often did not have a phone and would not facilitate visitation or contact between Steven and Mr. Bake. (tr. 98, 99). When he did have contact with his nephew, Mr. Bake had concerns that his needs were not being met as he was being required to babysit continually for Rachel, he was not properly dressed, and he was not doing well in school. 100; Verified Petition for Modification, R. 58-62.) These problems resulted in Appellant filing a petition for Modification of the Divorce Decree wherein he sought custody of his nephew Steven Springer. (R. 58-62.)

Since the parties' divorce, Respondent was the sole caretaker of her nephew Steven Springer and she received a

monthly stipend from the State of Utah for his care. (tr. 27.) While Vickey Bake was the sole caretaker for Steven Springer there were four referrals for child neglect and her fitness made to the Division of Social Services in Roosevelt, Utah. (tr. Mr. Ralph Draper, the Supervisor of Social Services in Roosevelt was responsible for investigating these referrals which were made by different parties. (tr. 67, 68.) The first referral was in January, 1986, where the complaining party indicated Steven was not properly clothed for school, had no lunch or lunch money, and was poorly groomed. Mr. Draper confirmed these facts which were verified by the Vice-Principal of Steven's school, Mr. Mitchell. (tr. 68.) Another referral stated that Steven Springer was always tired because he was constantly babysitting. (tr. 70.) Mr. Draper testified that he contacted Mrs. Adderly concerning these referrals and did not believe they required removal of the child from the home. (tr. 71.) Additionally, there were referrals concerning Mrs. Adderly's lifestyle, that she was living with a man she was not married to, that the family was being supported by Steven Springer's stipend check, and living in adequate housing. (tr. 74.) During a follow-up visit, Mrs. Adderly admitted she had some difficulty with Steven. Mr. Draper also interviewed Steven himself and testified that he found him to be introverted, shy, and unassertive, and "felt that he needed supervision". (tr. 81, 82.)

The trial court refused to allow Appellant to examine witnesses on the subject of Vickey Bake's care of Steven Springer

although counsel argued that her care of Steven was the best and only evidence of her parenting ability since no custody evaluation had ever been done. (tr. 100).

D. Facts Relating to Vickey Bake's Visitation.

Concerning visitation, Mrs. Cora Bake, Appellant's mother, testified that she kept an independent record of every call, letter, and visit from Vickey Bake to the boys. (tr. 123-125.) She testified that this log was kept in a yearly calendar book and was maintained ever since the boys came to live in her home. (tr. 123.) In testifying about the contacts between Vickey Bake and her sons, Mrs. Bake reviewed the calendar of 1987, specifically the months of January through May. (Trial Exh. 5.) Mrs. Bake testified that in the month of January, 1987, there was only one letter from Mrs. Bake. In February, 1987, there were two phone calls. In March, 1987, there was one call to arrange a visit which occurred on the 13th. In April there were no contacts, that is, no calls, letters or visits. In May, 1987, there was a call and a visit of a few hours on the 20th and a visit on the 22nd. (tr. 125-127.)

The visit on May 22nd was quite upsetting to Mrs. Bake as Vickey Bake arrived one hour early then had been arranged and simply walked in the house, took the children and was leaving in her car before Mrs. Bake happened to see them by glancing outside. Mrs. Bake testified that if she had not happened to see them leaving she would have never known they had left the house. (Tr. 127, 128.)

Mrs. Bake summarized the contacts in her log during several months in 1986 as follows. In January one letter was received from Vickey Bake to the boys; in April there were no contacts, in September there were no contacts, in November there was one card received, and in December there was a birthday card and one letter. (tr. 129-131.) Mrs. Bake testified that she never denied visitation when it was requested by the Respondent and that the parties had even agreed to a specific time for telephone calls so the children would be home if the Respondent happened to call. (tr. 132.) Lastly, Mrs. Bake testified that the children never asked to call Vickey Bake nor did they express the desire to live with her. (tr. 133.)

Mr. Bake testified that Vickey Bake would make visitation arrangements and then not show up which upset the boys (tr. 105) and that there were long lapses between contacts. (tr. 109.) Also, that contact with Vickey was difficult because she often had no phone and would not keep him informed of her whereabouts. (tr. 98, 99.)

Mr. Bake testified he has had to call the police when the Plaintiff refused to return the children after visitation, (tr. 109) and that the Respondent was seldom timely for arranged visitation, that she was often early, late or would not show up at all. There were even times when she refused to return the children which resulted in them missing school. (tr. 109, 110.) Mr. Bake testified that Respondent would miss special occasions

with the children, such as Christmas, 1986, and birthdays where there would be no call, letter or contact. (tr. 11.)

Vickey Bake alluded to visitation problems with the Appellant but never sought legal help and could not remember when she had called the police except that it occurred "every time" she went to the Appellant's house. (tr. 40, 41.) However Respondent did not have police with her when she went to the Appellant's home May 22, 1987 (tr. 127.) No police reports were introduced by Respondents.

Vickey Bake's father, Bud Nelson testified at the trial and stated that until seeing her at trial he had not seen his daughter for four years. (tr. 139-140.) Although he sent regular birthday and Christmas cards to his daughter Vickey and his grandson Steven Springer, he never had any response. (tr. 141.) Mr. Nelson testified that Vickey Bake never brought her sons or Steven Springer to visit him even though he was not aware of any difficulties in their relationship and that she always knew where he was. (tr. 140, 141.)

In contrast, Mr. Nelson testified that Neal Bake tried hard to stay in touch with him and would bring his grandsons Nathan and Kyle as well as Steven Springer, to visit him since the parties had been divorced. (tr. 141.) Mr. Nelson also testified that he has had extended visits with his grandsons and that in his opinion the relationship between Neal and his grandsons was good and that they appeared cared for and happy when they were with him. (tr. 142, 143.)

E. Facts Relating to Neal Bake, Appellant.

Mr. Bake testified that he was a truck driver employed by Uintah Freightways and earned \$1,109.00 per month. (tr. 87, 89., R. 90-93) He stated that he had worked for his present employer three or four months and before that worked for PST Vans. He changed companies so that he could be home more with his sons even though it meant a cut in pay. (tr. 88.) His present job allowed him to be home on weekends and holidays. He also testified that he had been looking for other work which would be local driving so he could be home on a daily basis. (tr. 88.)

Ever since his separation from the Respondent on about March 11, 1985, Mr. Bake has resided with his parents at their home in Sandy. (tr. 89, 90.) There are five bedrooms in the home, with two bedrooms downstairs and a play room where the boys stay, a large yard and that, the home is located next to Nathan's school. (tr. 90.)

When asked how the original stipulated custody arrangement came about, Mr. Bake testified that Mrs. Bake said she "had raised kids all of her life, [that she did not want to raise anymore and,] wanted to start a life of her own". (tr. 96.)

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