1988

## Bake v. Bake : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The majority of Defendant's argument is a challenge to the findings of the trial court. Those findings are presumed valid and will not be overturned unless the Defendant shows a clear abuse of discretion or the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings of the court. Defendant tries to meet that

burden by relying on his and his mother's testimony while ignoring the evidence of two social workers, the children and Mrs. Adderley. When all the evidence is considered it fully supports the trial court's decision.

2. The parties, by stipulation, provided that the requirement that there be a change of circumstances, would be met if the two boys changed their preference of custodial party. The court in two Orders approved this stipulation and ruled that if the boys changed their preference of custodial parent then a change of custody would be considered if it was in the best interest of the boys. The evidence fully supported the finding that it was in the boys best interest to change their custody.

3. The factors set forth in Hutchinson vs. Hutchinson, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982), which are used to determine custody, when applied to the facts fully support the trial court's decision. The preference of the children, keeping siblings together, personal care rather than surrogate care, and the happiness of the children all favored Mrs. Adderley. Other factors such as stability and financial status were about even as to the parties. Based on those factors it would have been an abuse of discretion if the court had not changed the custody of the boys.

4. The child support order is fully supported by the financial statements each party submitted to the court.

## ARGUMENT

POINT I. DEFENDANT IGNORES THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT SUPPORTS THE FINDINGS ENTERED BY THE COURT AND IS ASKING THIS COURT TO IGNORE THAT EVIDENCE AND MAKE FINDINGS THAT WOULD SUPPORT WHAT DEFENDANT WISHES WERE THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

The trial court is awarded considerable discretion and its actions are cloaked with the presumption of validity in a divorce matter. To overturn the trial court's findings the Defendant;

must show that the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary, or that the trial court abused its discretion or misapplied the law, or that the trial court's award works such a manifest injustice as to show clearly an abuse of discretion.

Porco vs. Porco, 752 P.2d 365 (Utah 1988). The trial court's findings are presumed valid and should only be overturned if they are contrary to the clear preponderance of the evidence. Berger vs. Berger, 713 P.2d 695 (Utah 1985). Painter vs. Painter, 752 P.2d 970 (Utah 1988).

[T]he task of determining the best interests of the child in a custody dispute is for the trial judge, who has the opportunity to personally observe and evaluate the witnesses. If a trial judge exercises his discretion in accord with the standards set by this Court, the decision will not be overruled.

Alexander vs. Alexander, 737 P.2d 221 (Utah 1987). The trial court is in the best position to assess the factors on which the best interests of the child turn. Therefore, the trial court is awarded particularly broad discretion in the area of child custody. Hirch vs. Hirch, 725 P.2d 1320, 1321 (Utah 1986).

Defendant agrees that the above standards of review are correct. Defendant then ignores the standards of review and

attempts to challenge the findings of the trial court by citing almost exclusively his and his mother's testimony while ignoring the testimony of Mrs. Adderley, the social workers from the Division of Family Services and the children. Their testimony fully supports the findings and decision of the trial court.

In addition to ignoring the testimony that supports the court's decision Defendant also mischaracterizes the testimony. A few examples are as follows; on page 38 of his Brief Defendant asserts that the Plaintiff's husband has a history of court ordered alcohol treatment and tries to imply that the Plaintiff's husband has an alcohol problem. The evidence, however, showed that the Defendant, as well as the Plaintiff's husband, drink beer but that neither have an alcohol problem and the use of alcohol has not had and will not have any adverse impact on the children. (T.37-38, 55, 61, 117) At page 41 of the Brief Defendant claims that the parties son Kyle was allowed to play with a knife and cut himself. The evidence showed that Kyle was using a knife without his mother's knowledge to punch a hole in a belt. As soon as his mother saw that he was using the knife she immediately went to get the knife, but before she could the knife slipped and cut him. The evidence showed no negligence or poor parenting by the Plaintiff. (T.154)

Defendant alleges that Vickey Bake arrived an hour early in May of 1987 when she picked up the children and that caused a problem. (Brief p.41) He failed to point out that the Defendant,

through his counsel, had changed the time period and that due to miscommunication that change in time period had not been communicated to the Plaintiff. (T.147) Defendant further asserts that the children are thriving, happy, enjoying school, enjoying their friends, etc., in Sandy. (Brief at page 34) A review of Exhibits 1 and 2 shows that the children were not happy but desired to be back with their friends in Roosevelt and going to school in Roosevelt. Defendant also argues that the court was wrong in not continuing the trial until a home study was prepared. Defendant failed to point out that he refused to participate financially in a study, that he had substantial time to obtain a study and that Mrs. Adderley did not have the funds for such a study. (T.3-10, Addendum 5) Finally, the Defendant makes many assertions that the court is biased, in favor of women and that the court's decision was solely made on the basis that the mother should have her children. (Brief at page 23) There is no factual support for such a serious allegation against the court.

Defendant also uses a substantial part of his Brief arguing that the court's Findings of Fact are not supported by the evidence. Defendant then cites almost exclusively from his own testimony and that of his mother while ignoring the testimony of other parties. A review of the entire transcript including the letters from the children fully supports the court's findings. Findings of Fact 3 and 4 are supported by the evidence found at

pages 10 through 13, 57 through 60 and 89 and 90 of the transcript. Findings of Fact nos. 5 and 6 are supported by testimony found at pages 10 through 16, 59 through 61, 70 through 72, 81 and 114 through 116 of the transcript.

Finding of Fact no. 8 is supported by Exhibits 1 and 2 and the court's interview of the two boys in chambers. Defendant now challenges that procedure but fails to inform the court that it was at the request of both parties that the children were interviewed by the court without the parties or counsel being present. (T.10) Finding of Fact no. 10 is fully supported by the evidence at page 17 of the transcript. Finally, Defendant challenges Finding of Fact no. 9 where the court found there were significant discrepancies in the evidence presented by the Defendant and his mother. In making that challenge Defendant fails to point out the significant discrepancies between the Defendant and his mother regarding the visitations by the Plaintiff. He fails to point out the abnormal activity of a grandmother listening in on the conversations between the Plaintiff and the children and keeping a log of those conversations and the other contacts the Plaintiff had with the children. Finally, he fails to point out that the court had an opportunity to review the demeanor of both the Defendant and his mother and the rather hostile manner in which they testified.

When one considers all of the evidence and testimony in this case, including the testimony of the social workers, the children

and the Plaintiff it is clear that the trial court's findings are fully supported. Defendant has the burden to show that there is error and that the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings of the trial court. He cannot meet that burden by discarding all of the evidence in favor of the court's decision and relying solely on his own testimony.

POINT II. THE PARTIES AGREED THAT THE ONLY CIRCUMSTANCES NECESSARY TO SHOW A CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES WOULD BE A CHANGE OF PREFERENCE BY THE CHILDREN. THAT STIPULATION WAS APPROVED BY THE TRIAL COURT IN 1985 AND PROPERLY APPLIED AT THE CUSTODY HEARING IN 1988.

Prior to the time the parties obtained their divorce decree there were negotiations and discussions between the parties and their children regarding who would have custody. The Defendant made certain promises to his two boys, including that they would be able to stay in Roosevelt, go to school in Roosevelt and be with their friends and be with their mother. Based on those promises the two boys told their mother that they wanted to reside with the Defendant. Mrs. Adderley, therefore, agreed that she would not challenge custody of the children but would comply with the request of the children upon the condition that custody of the boys would be returned to her if the boys changed their preference of which parent would have custody. Both of the parties were represented by legal counsel. A written stipulation was prepared which incorporated the agreement of the parties and provided that custody of the children would be returned to Mrs. Adderley if the boys changed their preference of custodial parent. That stipulation was presented to the court. The court approved that stipulation and entered it as the court's order. (R.34, 43, Addendum 1)

The Defendant failed to live up to his promises to the children and Mrs. Adderley. Also it became apparent that the Defendant was having his mother raise the children. The children

therefore expressed a desire, both verbally and in writing, to both parties to return to live with their mother. Defendant was unwilling to voluntarily return the boys to Mrs. Adderley so she filed a Petition for a change of custody. A pre-trial settlement conference was held before the Domestic Commissioner. The Domestic Commissioner reviewed the terms of the decree and was of the opinion that the parties, by stipulation and the court by court order, had waived the requirement of showing a change of circumstances. The Domestic Commissioner was of the opinion that Mrs. Adderley had the burden to show that it was in the best interest of the children to change their custody. The Domestic Commissioner made those recommendations to the trial court. (R.97) The Defendant had 10 days to raise any objections to those recommendations. He made no objections and therefore, the recommendations were entered as an order by the court. (Addendum 6) In this case there has been a written stipulation and two court orders that waive the need of Mrs. Adderley to prove a change of circumstances other than a change of preference by the boys. Mrs. Adderley still had and sustained her burden of proving to the trial court that it was in the best interest of the children to change their custody.

The law in the State of Utah generally requires that the moving party overcome a two-step hurdle in seeking to change custody. Those two steps are showing a change in circumstances and that it is in the best interest of the children to make the

change. The most critical step and the one of paramount importance is proving that it is in the best interest of the children to change custody. When there is a waiver or limitation on the need to show a change of circumstances the court still looks to the best interest and welfare of the children. Anderson vs. Anderson, 481 P.2d 881 (Az. 1971). In this particular case the trial court required Vickey to produce evidence and the trial court found the facts showing a change of preference by the boys and that it was in the best interest of the boys to change custody.

Defendant has cited no authority to the court that shows that the court and the parties could not waive or limit the need to show a change in circumstances. It is undisputed that stipulations between the parties are binding between the parties and are generally followed by the court unless there is some injustice that would be caused. Klein vs. Klein, 544 P.2d 472 (Utah 1975). Stipulations should only be overturned by the court with great reluctance and for compelling reasons. Lamb vs. Lamb, 605 P.2d 1248 (Utah 1980), Kinsman vs. Kinsman, 748 P.2d 210 (Utah 1988).

If this court were to find that the parties and the trial court could not restrict or waive the obligation of showing a change of circumstances, the undisputed evidence in this case shows that there was a substantial change of circumstances. The finding of custody was based on the stipulation of the parties,

the preference of the children and promises made by the Defendant to both the children and Mrs. Adderley. Exhibits 1 and 2 and the findings of the trial court with regards to the preference of the children, shows that there has been a substantial change in circumstances and that the childrens' preference has completely changed.

POINT III. THE FACTS CLEARLY ESTABLISHED THAT IT WAS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILDREN THAT THEIR CUSTODY BE GIVEN TO THEIR MOTHER.

The trial court found that it was in the best interest of the minor children that their custody be changed to their mother. The court entered its Findings of Fact citing several factors to support this conclusion. The Defendant, in his Brief, challenges these factual findings by the court. As pointed out in Point I Defendant's arguments totally ignore the facts presented at trial that support the decision of the court.

The question of what is in the best interest and welfare of the children is the paramount consideration to be made in custody cases. The task of determining the best interest of a child is generally for the trial judge who has the best opportunity to observe and evaluate witnesses. The exercise of the discretion by the trial judge in making a custody finding is generally not overturned by the reviewing court. Alexander vs. Alexander, 737 P.2d 221 (Utah 1987).

This court has reiterated several factors the court may consider in determining the childrens' best interest. In Hutchinson vs. Hutchinson, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982) the court set forth a list of factors the court may use. A comparison of those factors to this case clearly support a finding that the best interests of the boys was to put their custody with their mother. Those factors and the findings in this case are as follows:

- a. The preference of the child. In this case Exhibits 1

and 2 make it very clear that the childrens' preference was to be with their mother. See Finding of Fact No. 8 (Addendum 7)

b. Keeping siblings together. In this particular case the two children had a cousin, Steven, with whom they had lived with most of their lives. Steven was in the custody of Vickey and the children wanted to be back together. See Finding of Fact No. 8.

c. Child's bond with one or both of the perspective custodians. There was little evidence on this issue. What evidence there was showed that the children were being primarily raised by their grandmother, that they were unhappy and wanted to be back with their mother. Findings of Fact No. 6, 7 and 8.

d. Custody arrangement where the children are happy and well adjusted. The facts of this case, particularly Exhibits 1 and 2, showed that the children were very unhappy in their present situation. Finding of Fact No. 8.

e. Moral character and emotional stability of the parents. The evidence in this case was about even. The facts did show that Vickey had remarried and had a stable home while the Defendant was still residing with his parents. Findings of Fact No. 3 and 4.

f. Duration and depth of desire for custody. The evidence showed that both parties desired custody of their children. Finding of Fact No. 7.

g. Ability to provide personal rather than surrogate care. In this case the facts supported Vickey. The facts showed that

she would be home all day with the children, and that her work was next to the home so that she could be in constant contact with them. The Defendant was never home. He is an interstate trucker and as a result the children were being raised by their grandmother. Findings of Fact Nos. 5 and 6.

h. Impairment of ability to function as a parent through drinking or drug abuse. Defendant, in his Brief, tries to insinuate that Vickey's husband has an alcohol problem. The facts at trial did not show that. The facts showed that both Vickey's husband and the Defendant were beer drinkers but that neither had an effect on their parenting abilities. Finding of Fact No. 7.

i. Reasons for relinquishing custody in the past. The facts clearly showed that the relinquishment of custody was based on promises from the Defendant to the Plaintiff and the children and on the preference of the children, that those promises had not been complied with and the preference had changed. Finding of Fact No. 8.

j. Religious compatibility. There are no facts as to the religious position of the parties.

k. Financial condition. The facts on this point showed that both parties were employed and had somewhat near the same income. Exhibits 3 and 4, Finding of Fact No. 11.

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